Milford Township Board of Supervisors’ Work Session
Meeting Minutes of April 28, 2025 - 7:00 a.m.

Attendance: Supervisors present: John Mininger, Chair; Christian Haberle, Vice Chair; and Member Charles Strunk. Staff
present: Jeffrey Vey, Township Manager; Devan Ambron, Assistant Manager/Secretary/Treasurer; Todd Baldwin,
Pennoni, and Kate Harper, Timoney Knox.

Call to Order: Mr. Mininger called the meeting to order at 7:00 a.m.

Public Hearing:
Ordinance Approving an Amendment to the Milford Village Neighborhood Improvement District Plan. Mrs. Harper
opened the Public Hearing at 7:01 a.m. Mrs. Harper stated the ordinance approves an amendment to the Milford Village
Neighborhood Improvement District Plan increasing the improvements being constructed and the amount of debt to be
incurred from that previously included in the neighborhood improvement district plan approved by the township when it
created the Milford Village Neighborhood Improvement District pursuant to Ordinance No. 185 enacted December 3,
2024. Mrs. Harper stated the Public Hearing has been advertised as required. Mr. Harper marked the proof of
advertisement as an exhibit. Mr. Mininger noted this ordinance increases the funding, everything else remains the same.
Mrs. Harper stated this will also give Milford the authority to approve and execute three agreements that have not yet been
finalized. Specifically, the agreements provide that the full faith and credit of the Township will not be impacted by the
borrowing authorized by the NID ordinance, and assuming the Ordinance passes, the Township will have the ability to
appoint someone to the NIDMA board. Mrs. Harper asked for comments. Mr. Haberle asked what the increase in dollar
value would provide funding for. Mr. Del Markward, member of the NIDMA, stated for infrastructure. Mr. Haberle asked
if the money requested goes directly to the Authority to do work for said infrastructure. Mr. Markward stated that is
correct. Mr. Haberle asked if the Authorities are all on the same page and if it matters as far as creating the NID, if the
funds are allocated to specific locations. Mr. Roger Hiser, representative of LifeQuest, stated they are the party that
requested the NID, and the Quakertown General Authority is the issuing authority. In order to raise funds for the NID, they
provided to the Authority, underwriters and banks that are engaged, a breakdown of what is to be improved, which
includes Route 663, LifeQuest Drive, and sewer infrastructure. The responsible authority is the NID. The NID is
responsible to send bills out once a year to the owners of the property, currently LifeQuest and MVP 663 1, LLP, the
assessment for payment for providing the improvements. There is an audit once a year and billing. Mr. Haberle said the
question is more the Sewer Authority, getting work done for the Authority, is all work done by them or the Authority. Mr.
Markward stated the actual construction is done through the NID. Mrs. Harper said it is very similar to the escrow accounts
or bonds that we accept through developers. Mr. Hiser stated the work on 663 is expected to be more expensive that an
average development. Mrs. Harper noted the Township will have certain responsibility if someone doesn’t pay the
assessment. The township will have the ability to do a municipal lien. Mr. Vey asked if the expense of such is provided
from the bond funds and if there is flexibility? Mr. Hiser stated three years of capital interest payments, at least the first
three years are accounted for, which is paid through bond holders. There is capital reserve in case there is a problem with
payments. Mr. Vey asked if their hands would be tied in dealing with any unforeseen circumstances. Mr. Hiser stated
unforeseen events can either be handled with paying off the bond early or having additional funds through the NID, which
would have to be sponsored by the Quakertown General Authority. Mrs. Harper stated it is noted in the documents that the
work has to be done before funds are released. There was no further discussion at this time. Mrs. Harper closed the hearing.
Mr. Mininger made a MOTION to approve and adopt Ordinance No. 186, Amendment to the Milford Village
Neighborhood Improvement District Plan, increasing the improvements being constructed and the amount of debt
being incurred. The motion was seconded by Mr. Haberle and passed unanimously.

Appointment of Member to the NID Management Association. Mrs. Harper noted that the township needs to appoint a
representative to the NID Management Board, as an upcoming meeting has been scheduled. Mr. Mininger volunteered to
serve as the township’s representative. He inquired about the frequency of the Board’s meetings, to which Mr. Hiser
responded that the Board typically meets about four times per year. Mr. Hiser further explained that the Board's
responsibilities are limited primarily to approving expense drawdowns and issuing assessments, and that overall
engagement is minimal.

Mr. Haberle made a MOTION to appoint Mr. Mininger to the NID Management Association Board. Mr. Strunk

seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

Mr. Hiser stated he had one additional point to add. He clarified that the amendment increasing the authorized bond
issuance amount does not mean the full amount will be used. Rather, it provides flexibility in case unforeseen issues arise,



ensuring sufficient funds are available. The actual debt remains at $25 million. Any potential increase in the authorized
amount is expected to be much smaller and serves primarily as a protective measure. He emphasized that this approach is
consistent with what was approved previously allowing for a higher ceiling in case construction costs exceed estimates.
Mr. Vey asked about the process for changing the bond amount. Mr. Hiser explained that any change would be limited to
capital improvements at the site. Should a new capital improvement arise, it would require Board approval and be enacted
through an ordinance. He also noted that they have a strong understanding of the projected costs and are well-positioned to
manage any increases. If everything proceeds as planned, the actual spending will likely be lower than the maximum
authorized amount.

Other Business:

Milford Village. Mr. Del Markward and Mr. Roger Hiser attended the meeting to provide updates and discuss current and
future development plans for the Milford Village site. Mr. Markward explained that they are preparing to submit a new
round of plans, including road layouts and additional phases of the project—specifically Sections 2, 4, and 5. With the Act
537 Plan currently under review by DEP, the intent is to submit road plans first for Land Development approval, as sewer
approval is not required for those components. Sewer lines will be installed in a manner similar to the Mill Hill Road
Extension. Mr. Smith noted that submitting a Land Development plan will serve multiple purposes: it will generate a
construction-ready plan set for use in securing NID funds, and it will allow certain site work to proceed while the Act 537
Plan remains under review. He also mentioned that the NPDES permit will cover the project as a whole. Mr. Markward
emphasized that they wanted to keep the township informed of the development strategy. Escrow will be posted as
required. He noted that when congregate care is proposed within Section 2, they intend to request relief from some escrows
and fees, as the 470+ units projected for that section would generate fees exceeding $100,000. The current focus is on the
western side of the site. Mr. Markward explained that they plan to submit Sections 2 (congregate care) and 5 (retail/offices)
together, but this submission will not occur until improvements are made to Route 663, improvements that will be funded
through the NID. Mr. Vey asked whether the three sections will be submitted as a single Land Development plan and then
phased. Mr. Markward confirmed this approach. Mr. Smith added that a Land Development plan will be prepared for each
section, with public improvements handled in a separate set of plans. If funding is secured, the roads and related
stormwater infrastructure could be built simultaneously. Mr. Markward also reported that they have received an approved
Highway Occupancy Permit (HOP) from PennDOT and have posted the required escrow. Another issue being evaluated is
the designation of certain roads. Originally, some roads were to remain private, but with NID involvement, they may need
to be dedicated as public township roads or designated under another classification. Regardless of ownership, all roads will
be constructed to township standards. Mr. Markward noted that Abby Lane has not yet been formally designated as public
or private, but it should be public since it connects Route 663 to Mill Hill Road. Mill Hill Court and LifeQuest Drive are
already public roads. Mr. Mininger stated that township roads intended for potential on-street parking have traditionally
been 35 feet wide. However, Mr. Smith clarified that the current plans specify 30-foot-wide roads, and that no on-street
parking is planned. Mr. Markward stated he is hopeful to submit the road-related components of the plan to the township
within the next month or two. Mr. Smith raised a question regarding the Land Development approval process. He noted
that the layout for Sections 2, 4, and 5 is included in the Seventh Revised Master Plan, which has already been approved.
He asked whether a Conditional Use approval would still be required. Mrs. Harper responded that the proposed dedication
of roads could potentially affect the previous approval. While it may be reasonable to proceed under the current Master
Plan if the layout remains unchanged, the shift in designation of roads to public status could trigger the need for
Conditional Use approval. Any changes to public infrastructure increase the likelihood that a Conditional Use process will
be required. Mr. Vey noted that, procedurally, a Conditional Use approval is required for each individual submission. Mr.
Markward then shifted the discussion to traffic improvements, specifically those related to Route 663. He explained that
Route 663 is bonded and will require an NPDES permit once the NID is approved. A grant related to these improvements
has been extended. He also noted that additional traffic studies may be necessary to evaluate the feasibility of constructing
a roundabout at the intersection of Mill Hill Road and LifeQuest Drive. While a roundabout is currently shown on the
approved Master Plan, Mr. Markward expressed concern that they are now being asked to reconstruct a newer road at
significant additional cost, despite current traffic levels being very low. Mr. Vey stated the intersection of Mill Hill at Old
Bethlehem Pike is coming into play with the proposed Brookfield development. Mr. Markward stated that, from a legal
standpoint, their team is not responsible for off-site traffic improvements. Their obligation extends only to on-site
improvements and those along Route 663. Mr. Jerry Hertz of Walnut Lane suggested that, if multiple projects in the area
will benefit from improvements to shared roads, the costs should be shared, rather than placing the burden solely on one
developer. Mr. Markward noted that the roundabout at Portzer Road was ultimately funded by PennDOT, which he
believes was influenced in part by the nearby hospital. Mr. Vey added that there had been a high number of accidents at
that location, which likely contributed to PennDOT's involvement. Mr. Markward confirmed that Mill Hill Road has
already been relocated into the development site. Mrs. Harper asked whether a Traffic Impact Study had been completed



for the full build-out of the site. Mr. Markward replied that the last study did account for full build-out. The intersection of
LifeQuest Drive and Mill Hill Road included a roundabout as shown on the Master Plan. However, he stated that based on
actual traffic volumes, a roundabout is not warranted and would likely be installed toward the end of the development
process. Mr. Mininger stated that he does not want to see the roundabout eliminated from the plan. Mr. Markward agreed
that the roundabout would likely be required during the development of Section 4, as it encroaches into that area. Mr. Vey
added that further discussion is necessary regarding the future of the Old Bethlehem Pike and Mill Hill Road intersection.
Mr. Mininger expressed interest in seeing a roundabout at that location as well, with a potential extension to Pumping
Station Road, though he acknowledged there are grading challenges in that area. Mr. Markward requested that approvals
for their upcoming submissions exclude any required improvements to that off-site intersection. As an alternative, he
suggested that when Land Development Plans for Section 2 or 4 are submitted, a contribution of $50,000 could be offered
to fund a traffic study for the area. Mr. Smith asked whether an engineering solution for the intersection has been explored,
and whether a contribution could instead be applied directly toward a future fix. Mr. Haberle inquired whether a portion of
the NID funding could be set aside to cover such future improvements. Mr. Hiser responded that this would not be
possible, as the NID must specifically benefit the properties within its defined area and cannot be allocated for off-site
improvements. The discussion turned to recreation fees and the allocation of recreational space for the remaining portions
of the property. Mr. Markward noted that the AMU zoning conflicts somewhat with the requirements of SALDO. He
explained that providing 50% open space should count toward recreation requirements, and the site already includes over
100 acres of open space. Site capacity calculations establish the overall recreation area requirements for the development.
Mr. Vey asked what recreation is being offered. With this section there is just under 30-acres required, per SALDO 5,000
sf for each dwelling. Mr. Hertz shared that he recently walked through the Rosenberger property, which he described as an
ideal location for trail development and casual recreation. The property includes a fishing pond and has potential for a dog
park. He described it as a beautiful area that would be very appealing to future residents. Mr. Vey mentioned a
conversation with Bob Irick, Chair of the Park Board, regarding potential trail connections. A trail could be extended to the
existing road, pedestrian bridge, and Faith Christian Academy. Additionally, the upcoming bridge replacement on
Allentown Road will accommodate pedestrian and bicycle traffic. A dog park is also under consideration on the east side
of the Unami Creek, on township-owned land. Mr. Markward asked if there was a formal plan for these improvements. Mr.
Hertz replied that discussions are ongoing. Mr. Vey stated he would provide drawings of existing and proposed plans. Mr.
Markward noted that over a mile of recreational trails have already been constructed on the site. With St. Luke’s recent
acquisition of 15 acres in Richland Township, the trails could potentially be extended further. He expressed the opinion
that additional recreation fees should not be necessary, as substantial investments have already been made. He would like
to work with the Township to understand what the big picture looks like. Mr. Markward also pointed out that the apartment
component will include a pool and dog park and that existing trails are already being used by residents. He requested that
the recreation fee proposal be formalized for final approval, and he noted that there is no specific code provision
establishing the $1,850 per-unit fee currently referenced. He expressed concern that a per-unit fee structure becomes
prohibitively expensive. He also referenced previous discussions about developing a trailhead and parking area and stated
that $1.4 million has already been invested in on-site trail infrastructure. Mr. Markward asked the Supervisors for
clarification on what is expected in terms of recreation improvements or fees for the apartment and retail components of
the development. Mr. Mininger asked Mr. Vey to gather and provide cost estimates related to the trail system. Mr.
Markward reiterated that there are 100 acres of open space on the site. Mr. Hertz added that the key question is what the
township expects in terms of recreation improvements and what the associated costs are from the township’s perspective.
Mr. Haberle noted that in developments of this size, it’s important to establish consistency. Future developers will want to
know what was required of previous phases, so there needs to be a clear understanding of what has already been installed
in terms of open space and recreation. Mr. Vey stated that he would prefer to see recreational facilities constructed, rather
than relying solely on fees. Mr. Smith added that with Sections 2, 4, and 5 being submitted soon, it is important to have
clarity on what the recreation fees will look like. Mr. Hiser commented that in his view, the approach should be project-
specific. LifeQuest should not be solely responsible for all recreation costs; instead, contributions should be tied to specific
buildings or projects to ensure fairness and collaboration across all stakeholders. He also pointed out that rerouting Mill
Hill Road through the development significantly impacted the project’s economics. There was no further discussion at that
time.

St. Luke’s Hospital RACP. Mr. Vey presented Resolution No. 2025-09, which amends Resolution No. 2021-07,
regarding the application for a Redevelopment Assistance Capital Program (RACP) grant under the Pennsylvania
Redevelopment Assistance Capital Program in the amount of $2,500,000 on behalf of St. Luke’s Hospital. The resolution
has been revised to specifically name St. Luke’s Hospital of Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital & Health
Network, and St. Luke’s Quakertown Hospital, d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital — Upper Bucks Campus. Additionally, the
resolution authorizes the Township to submit the RACP grant application and to execute any and all documents necessary
to facilitate the grant process.



Mr. Haberle made a MOTION to approve Resolution No. 2025-09, Application for a Redevelopment Assistance
Capital Grant on behalf of St. Luke’s Hospital and approve the execution of any all documents related to the grant. Mr.
Strunk seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

Pennoni Revised Proposal for Professional Services for Weiss Road Bridge over Licking Creek. Mr. Baldwin gave a
brief update on the status of the project. The Joint Permit was submitted on March 28, 2025 to DEP. The first review is
anticipated to be done by Memorial Day. The Phase 2 Bog Turtle Study started last week. Mr. Haberle asked if the revised
proposal is based on an estimated fee. Mr. Baldwin stated the grant funding was put together in September and was
released in October, $525,000 is the total estimated fee costs for services, preliminary engineering and final design budget.
The fee schedule matches what was put in place. Mr. Haberle stated he sees no issues with the revised proposal.

Mr. Haberle made a MOTION to approve the revised Professional Services Proposal for the Weiss Road Bridge over

the Licking Creek. The motion was seconded by Mr. Strunk and passed unanimously.

Open Space Acquisition, 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP No. 23-020-109, 23-020-108, 52-001-027, and 52-001-026.

Mr. Vey presented Resolution No. 2025-10, Authorizing the Acquisition of the Estate of Sara Isenberg In Lieu of

Condemnation, for the property located at 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP Nos. 23-020-109 and 23-020-108 in the amount

of $567,758.42, for recreation and open space purposes. Mr. Haberle asked if this gives Milford Township access right to

the West Rockhill portion being purchased by West Rockhill. Mr. Vey stated the deed will contain easement language.
Mr. Haberle made a MOTION to approve Resolution No. 2025-10, authorizing the acquisition of the estate of Sara
Isenberg in lieu of condemnation. Mr. Mininger seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

Agreement of Sale of 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP No. 23-020-109, 23-020-108, 52-001-027, and 52-001-026. Mr.
Vey presented the Agreement of Sale for the Open Space Acquisition of the Estate of Sara Isenberg for the property
located at 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP No. 23-020-109 and 23-020-108 for open space and recreation purposes. The cost
of acquisition shall not exceed its appraised value of $567,758.42
Mr. Haberle made a MOTION to approve and execute the Agreement of Sale of the acquisition of the Estate of Sarah
Isenberg for the property located at 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP No. 23-020-109 and 23-010-108. The motion was
seconded by Mr. Strunk and passed unanimously.

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items:
No public comment was received.

Adjournment:
With there being no further business, Mr. Haberle made a MOTION to adjourn the Special Meeting of the Milford

Township Board of Supervisors of April 28, 2025 at 8:44 a.m.



